## NHSScotland National Access Policy

November 2023



## Contents

| 1. Introduction  | 3  |
|--|----|
| 2. Background  | 4  |
| 3. Waiting Time Standards  | 5  |
| 4. Key Principles  | 6  |
| 5. Responsibilities  | 8  |
| 5.1 Communicate Effectively With Patients                        | 8  |
| 5.2 Manage Referrals Effectively                                 | 9  |
| 5.3 Manage Waiting Lists Effectively                             | 12 |
| 5.4 Use Information To Support Improvements In Service Provision | 13 |
| 5.5 Report Patients' Waiting Times Accurately                    | 13 |
| 6. Conclusion  | 14 |

## **1. Introduction**

The NHSScotland National Access Policy has been updated to provide a national approach and understanding of how Health Boards should ensure equitable, safe, clinically effective and efficient access to services for their patients.

This policy sets out principles that will help ensure that systems are in place to optimise the use of facilities and available capacity in order to deliver high-quality, safe patient care.

Health Boards should ensure that they have processes and resources in place to deliver the responsibilities described in the National Access Policy and that Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) are established to ensure the requirements of this Policy are delivered.

Each Health Board will also produce a Local Access Policy, setting out the details of how these principles apply to their local services e.g. possible and reasonable service locations.

Each Local Access Policy must be developed with consideration given to local patients, to be open and transparent, be approved by the Health Board and be made widely available. This includes publication on the Health Board's website.

## 2. Background

<u>The Patient Rights (Scotland) Act 2011</u> enshrines in law that, once a patient has been diagnosed as requiring inpatient or day case treatment and has agreed to that treatment, that patient's treatment must start within 12 weeks. The Treatment Time Guarantee operates within existing waiting times standards to support timely access to high-quality care at each point of the patient journey. This represents a mutual partnership between each patient and their Health Board, with responsibilities on either side.

The 2020 Framework for Quality, Efficiency and Value (Framework) refocuses our efforts on the triple aim of improving quality of care (including safety), health of the population and value and financial stability. This Framework outlines the approaches, tools and techniques - underpinned by robust quality improvement and other methodologies - that experience has shown to be most successful in delivering improved quality alongside better value.

We are committed to delivering year-on-year reductions in waiting times, which will be supported by the implementation of sustainable improvements and enhanced regional and national working. Key actions include creating a network of National Treatment Centres (NTCs) to provide significant additional and protected capacity.

NHSScotland's Centre for Sustainable Delivery (CfSD) plays a central role in ensuring that Health Boards are able to continually identify new ways to increase capacity, and to respond to demand through service innovation and redesign.

The National Access Policy aims to ensure consistency of approach in providing access to services and as such it underpins <u>The Patient Rights (Scotland) Act 2011</u>.

The National Access Policy also firmly supports NHSScotland's ambition to deliver person-centred, safe and effective healthcare services.

## 3. Waiting Time Standards

Health Boards are required to ensure that there is equitable and sustainable delivery of waiting time standards, ensuring there is sufficient capacity available and there is optimal use of this capacity to deliver all waiting time requirements.

This will include working collaboratively with other Health Boards and healthcare providers, and the use of <u>National Treatment Centres</u> where possible. This will ensure patients receive the most appropriate treatment with the shortest possible waiting time.

CfSD is working with Health Boards to accelerate implementation of high-impact changes, including <u>Active Clinical Referral Triage (ACRT)</u>, freeing up additional capacity in the NHS system. These improvement programmes will support delivery of waiting times standards and provide sustainable solutions for the future.

The current waiting times standards for acute hospital care are:

- 6 weeks for the 8 key diagnostic tests and investigations;
- 12 weeks for new outpatient appointments for 95% of patients;
- the statutory 12 week treatment time guarantee, and;
- 18 weeks for an outpatient appointment, diagnostic tests (if required) and treatment (if appropriate) for 90% of patients.

## 4. Key Principles

#### **Patient Needs**

- The needs of the patient should be paramount.
- Patients should be offered care according to clinical priority, with the most urgent being seen most swiftly.
- There should be collaborative working with stakeholders in primary, secondary and social care to ensure the needs of the patient are met.

#### **Operational**

- Health Boards should work collaboratively to match capacity with demand as much as possible, ensuring patients are seen as quickly as possible.
- As far as possible, patients should be seen within agreed waiting time standards, and those with the longest wait should be prioritised, along with those who are most clinically urgent.
- All urgent cancer patients are required to be seen as soon as possible within the <u>cancer waiting time standards</u>.
- Referrals should be managed effectively through Active Clinical Referral Triage.
- Patients should be referred to a clinical team and be seen by an appropriate member of that team rather than being referred to a named consultant. The Local Access Policy for each Health Board should set out that a reasonable offer of treatment relates to any competent clinician who is part of the consultant-led service which the Health Board provides in that speciality or subspecialty.
- Sufficient capacity should be optimally utilised to deliver waiting times.
- There are only two reasons why a patient may be unavailable for treatment: medical reasons or patient-advised reasons. Patient-advised unavailability can only be applied at the request of the patient and must not be prompted by the Health Board. Unavailability reasons should be set out in each Health Board's Local Access Policy.
- Patients should not be added to a waiting list until they are ready for treatment.
- Waiting list validation should be embedded in Health Board processes. In addition to local three-stage validation, the National Elective Coordination Unit (NECU) is available to support Health Boards with national waiting list validation. Further details of the work NECU do can be found here: <u>National Waiting List Validation - How it works | The</u> <u>nation (nhscfsd.co.uk)</u>
- The provision of day case and short-stay surgery should be maximised.
- Admissions to hospital should be actively managed through pre-assessment services.
- Effective patient booking systems should be in place to maximise capacity.
- All patients must be advised of any delay to their appointment as soon as possible. If there is a delay caused by the service, which is longer than the patient could reasonably be expected to wait, this would be classed as 'Cancelled by Service'. A reasonable wait would be anything up to 30 minutes.

#### Accessibility

- Whilst the vast majority of patients are seen within their local area, services may also be delivered through another Health Board, National Treatment Centre or suitable alternative provider. The Local Access Policy for each Health Board should set out the locations and suitable alternative providers where treatment may be reasonably undertaken.
- Patients are to be advised as early as possible if they need to travel for their appointment or treatment.
- Patients should be advised that they may be entitled to have their travel costs, accommodation, and any other relevant expenses, for the patient and their carer (if necessary), covered by the Health Board. This should be set out in each Health Board's Local Access Policy.
- Health Boards should consider whether it may be appropriate to provide transport to support a patient to attend an appointment.
- Health Boards should aim to achieve inclusive and equal access for all service users.
- A reasonable offer for first outpatient assessment and inpatient / day case admission is when:
  - at least 10 calendar days notice is given;
  - the appointment is at any location across NHSScotland;
  - the mode of contact used for an appointment can be accepted by the patient (e.g. video, phone call);
  - can be offered regardless of whether it is pre or post guarantee date; and,
  - short notice offer is acceptable (if accepted by patient).
- The details of what constitutes a reasonable offer, along with the consequences of a patient refusing two reasonable offers of appointment, should be set out in the Health Board's Local Access Policy.

#### Improvement

- Health Boards should work to understand the reasons why patients do not attend their appointments, and what support can be provided by Health Boards to reduce non-attendance of agreed appointments. The consequences for patients of non-attendance should be set out in each Health Board's Local Access Policy.
- Reduce follow-up appointments that are not clinically necessary.
- Feedback should be used to facilitate improvements in service provision.
- Leadership and accountability for the improvement of waiting times and achieving waiting times standards should be explicit within each Health Board area.

## 5. Responsibilities

This policy details the responsibilities that will ensure equity and consistency in approach to access to services both within Health Boards and across NHSScotland as a whole.

Health Boards are required to ensure that their Local Access Policies and procedures reflect the principles laid out in this National Access Policy. Health Boards should implement this policy in a manner that best meets the needs of their patients.

#### The five key responsibilities under the National Access Policy are:

- 1. to communicate effectively with patients.
- 2. to manage referrals effectively.
- 3. to manage waiting lists effectively.
- 4. to use information to support improvements in service provision.
- 5. to report patients' waiting times accurately and in a timely manner.

#### 5.1 Communicate Effectively With Patients

# There is a need to ensure that patients are appropriately informed at all stages of the patient journey. Communicating effectively with patients will help to inform them of when, where and how they are to receive care and their responsibilities in helping to ensure that this happens.

- Each patient must be provided with sufficient information about their treatment to facilitate their informed discussion in the decision making process.
- It is important that patients are provided with clear, accurate and timely information about how processes will operate as close to the beginning of their journey as possible.

Full details can be found in the NHSScotland Waiting Times Guidance November 2023 but examples include:

- the impact on the patient if they refuse reasonable offers of appointment.
- what happens when a patient Does Not Attend (DNA), Could Not Attend (CNA) or is unavailable, and the impact this could have on the care they receive.
- the consequences of not responding promptly to hospital communcations, and the impact this could have on their waiting time.
- instructions on how and when to contact the hospital, as well as the timeframe in which to do this.
- Health Boards have a duty to ensure that patients are provided with information they can easily understand, and that appropriate support is put in place as required. Additional needs must be taken into account where these have been communicated by the patient, the patient's carer, or a medical practitioner.
- Where possible, GP/referring clinicians should advise patients at the point of referral of the possible locations for their appointment/treatment, as described in the Local Access Policy.

- Where treatment occurs outside the Health Board area, or where clinics are held infrequently, it is particularly important that the arrangements and the reasons for this are made clear to patients at the beginning of their care journey including the process of organising their appointment and/or admission to hospital.
- Health Boards must advise patients that the costs associated with travelling to an appointment outwith their local Health Board area, including accommodation, and any other relevant expenses, for the patient and their carer (if necessary), can be covered by the Health Board. Local Access Policies should provide details of what would be covered i.e. accompanying carer, cheapest travel option, accommodation where required.
- Health Boards should consider whether it may be appropriate to provide transport to support a patient to attend an appointment.
- Patients should be given clear and accurate information about how their waiting time is calculated, including when clock adjustments are made and how these affect their treatment time clock.
- Communications with patients should be in a format appropriate to their needs e.g. large print, community language, and in a method agreed by them i.e. letter, phone or digitally.
- Patients should be made aware that if they no longer wish to have their outpatient appointment or admission, for whatever reason, they must advise the hospital.
- Any communication being issued to the patient should also be sent to the referrer.
- Where patients are referred back to their GP, the Primary Care team should have arrangements in place to follow up with the patient prior to re-referral.

#### 5.2 Manage Referrals Effectively

Improvements in waiting times should be delivered through an effective partnership between Primary and Secondary Care, with appropriate protocols and documentation in place.

#### 5.2.1 Referrer

- Prior to referral, the clinician should explain to the patient the range of options to be considered. This should include that patients may not need to access specialist or consultant-led services.
- The referring clinician should advise patients why they are being referred and the expected waiting time, and outline to patients their responsibilities for keeping appointments and the consequences of not attending.
- The referring clinician should ensure that the patient is available to commence treatment. When the referrer is aware that the patient will be unavailable for a period of time, the referrer should either delay sending the referral until they know the patient is available, or clearly note the patient's unavailability period on the referral form/letter.
- Referrals should be made electronically, where possible, and as per local protocols.
- Referring clinicians should make referrals to a clinical service and not a named consultant.
- Wherever possible, patients should be referred for diagnostics tests prior to the referral being made for the first outpatient appointment. However, if the Health Board is aware of long waits locally, it should add the patient to both waiting lists to ensure they are not disadvantaged.

- If the patient requires an outpatient appointment regardless of the diagnostic results, the patient should be added to both waiting lists to prevent any unnecessary delays in treatment.
- Referrers must provide accurate, timely and complete information within their referral including:
  - CHI identifier (unless they don't have one);
  - full demographic details including name, address, ethnicity, postcode;
  - up-to-date mobile and home telephone numbers, email address, if applicable;
  - preferred method of contacting patient i.e. letter, phone or digitally;
  - patient's unavailability period, if applicable;
  - Armed Forces/veteran status, if applicable, and;
  - Additional Support Needs.

#### 5.2.2 Receiving Location

- There should be a structured and transparent approach to the management of referrals, scheduling and booking for all patients.
- The advanced vetting practice of <u>Active Clinical Referral Triage (ACRT)</u> should be implemented to ensure patients are on the optimal pathway for them. This will avoid unnecessary outpatient appointments. All ACRT outcomes should be recorded to allow for PHS data collection which will allow the impact of this process to be measured.
- Where treatment cannot be provided locally, and the patient needs to travel elsewhere, the patient should be made aware of that as early as possible.
- Referrals should be triaged electronically, where possible.
- The date of receipt of all referrals must be recorded.
- Patients should be booked as close to the date of receipt of referral as reasonably possible.
- Systems and procedures should be put in place to triage and prioritise referrals in accordance with referral category (e.g. URGENT).
- Patients referred with suspected cancer must be marked as 'URGENT SUSPICION OF CANCER'. All urgent cancer patients are required to be seen as soon as possible within cancer waiting time standards.
- Armed Forces personnel, veterans and their families who move between areas retain their relative point on the pathway of care within the national waiting time targets.
- No veteran (including those who have served as reservists) or their family should be disadvantaged as a result of their membership of the Armed Forces, when accessing NHS services. Further detailed guidance for veterans can be found at <u>Armed Forces</u> <u>Covenant\_Duty\_Statutory\_Guidance.pdf (publishing.service.gov.uk)</u>

#### 5.2.3 Receiving Clinician

- Receiving clinicians must ensure that waiting lists properly reflect their clinical priorities and are managed effectively.
- It is the receiving clinician's responsibility to communicate with the referrer to offer advice on whether a referral is suitable.
- Any referrals received for a service that is not delivered in that Health Board area should be returned to the original referrer with advice.
- Where it is judged that a referral received would be more appropriately managed by another service provided by the Health Board, the referral will be passed to that service internally and the referrer informed.

#### 5.2.4 Patient Transfer

- Appropriate documentation and information should be provided to the receiving Health Board (or Private Sector provider where appropriate).
- Any transfer of data must comply with standards in relation to data security and confidentiality.
- Private patients opting to transfer to NHS treatment must be referred back to the GP to discuss their options and if appropriate referred to local NHS provider.
- If the patient requests to be seen in a specific location within the area of the responsible Health Board, where the original offer was for treatment outside of that area, the responsible Health Board may agree this if it is deemed reasonable and clinically appropriate to offer the patient an alternative reasonable offer of appointment as set out in the Health Board's Local Access Policy.
- A request for a specific location will only be allocated by the Health Board to ensure continuity of care, patient safety or for other clinical or exceptional reasons.



#### 5.3 Manage Waiting Lists Effectively

To support delivery of waiting times standards there is a need for Health Boards to manage their waiting lists effectively. This includes triaging of referrals, management of patients and accurate recording of clinic outcomes.

- Processes and resources should be in place to ensure that all staff are adequately trained to use local systems to help manage access to services.
- All new referrals should be triaged electronically, with all new appointments having a corresponding waiting list entry.
- As far as possible, patients should be seen within agreed waiting time standards and booked in turn, taking clinical urgency into account.
- Ensure that details of patients on the waiting list, who are admitted as emergency admissions, are communicated for recording on the Patient Administration System.
- Patients should only be added to a waiting list when they are available to commence treatment.
- Wherever possible, patients should be referred for diagnostics tests prior to the referral being made for the first outpatient appointment. However, if the Health Board is aware of long waits locally, it should add the patient to both waiting lists to ensure they are not disadvantaged.
- If the patient is being referred for diagnostic tests but requires an outpatient appointment regardless of the diagnostic results, the patient should be added to both waiting lists to prevent any unnecessary delays in treatment.
- Systems and procedures should be in place to ensure that waiting list managers are aware of any patient who has cancelled on the day of or after admission.
- Systems and procedures should be in place to review and validate waiting lists regularly to ensure accuracy and delivery of national and local access times. In addition to local three-stage validation, the National Elective Coordination Unit (NECU) are available to support Health Boards with national waiting list validation. Further details of the work NECU do can be found here: <u>National Waiting List Validation - How</u> <u>it works | The nation (nhscfsd.co.uk)</u>
- Health Boards should ensure that they maintain a Directory of Services.
- Ensure that new outpatients only receive a return appointment if there is a clinical need.
- Ensure that all patients undergoing a procedure have indicated, in writing, that they consent to treatment.
- Ensure effective communication is in place to notify the referring clinician on the decision to treat e.g. treatment to be provided, treatment delayed because medically unavailable.
- Ensure systems and procedures are in place to communicate, manage and record electronically all outcomes at clinics and additions or alterations to the waiting list.
- Patients who require treatment for different conditions may be on two separate pathways. Health Boards should have arrangements in place to identify what condition should take precedence, and manage these appointments accordingly.
- Regularly review clinic templates to ensure they reflect changing demand patterns.

#### 5.4 Use Information To Support Improvements In Service Provision

## The ability to effectively monitor and manage services requires good-quality data. This helps to inform performance and identify areas for future improvement.

- Ensure any factors which influence waiting times are regularly monitored, and management action is taken in sufficient time to ensure waiting time standards are met as far as possible.
- Ensure the development and implementation of processes is person-centred and does not unfairly impact individuals and groups.
- Health Boards should work with the CfSD to accelerate implementation of high impact changes, freeing up additional capacity in the NHS system. These CfSD improvement programmes will support delivery of waiting times standards, ensure that long-waiting patients can access treatment more quickly and provide sustainable solutions for the future.
- Review reasons why patients may DNA or cancel appointments and take necessary steps to address any issues and barriers as necessary.
- Ensure the effective monitoring of efficiency and productivity and support necessary change where required.
- Benchmarking information should be used wherever possible in reviewing clinic templates and efficiency.
- Health Boards should complete local Equality Impact Assessments (EQIAs) for their processes, to identify impacts on different groups and people with protected characteristics. Health Boards should address these impacts and mitigate where possible. The EQIAs should continue to be reviewed as needed.

#### 5.5 Report Patients' Waiting Times Accurately

## To support delivery of waiting times standards, patient waits must be recorded and reported accurately to ensure completeness and consistency.

#### **Reporting Responsibilities Regarding Patient Records**

- The Health Board of receipt of referral (HBR) is required to collect the following data and provide it to the Health Board of Treatment (HBT) on transfer:
  - start date (e.g. Date of Referral Received for outpatients or Decision to Treat for inpatients/day cases).
  - clock adjustment dates and reasons.
  - any additional relevant information.
- The HBT is responsible for reporting the entire patient wait to Public Health Scotland (PHS). This includes:
  - existing waiting times from data transfers.
  - all relevant information received from the Health Board of Referral.
- The quality-assured data should be provided by the HBT to PHS in a timely manner. This is to provide consistency for reporting, and is not in relation to Waiting Times performance.

#### Reporting Responsibilities ONLY Regarding Eight Key Diagnostic Tests And Investigations

• The Health Board of Initial Receipt of Referral is responsible for providing an aggregated return of the results of all 8 of the key tests to PHS.



### 6. Conclusion

By following the key principles and the responsibilities of this National Access Policy, Health Boards will ensure that patients who are waiting for their appointment, test and/ or treatment are managed fairly and consistently across NHSScotland.

Health Boards should use this National Access Policy in conjunction with other relevant national guidance including the NHSScotland Waiting Times Guidance November 2023.

A 'Once for Scotland' approach should be embraced by Health Boards, harnessing all opportunities to deliver patient care in the right place and closer to home where possible. This includes maximising day case procedures to avoid any unnecessary stays in hospital.

Health Boards are required to ensure that their Local Access Policies and procedures are updated to reflect the principles laid out in this National Access Policy. Health Boards must implement this policy in a manner that best meets the needs of their patients.

The Scottish Government is the owner of this guidance. Any queries should be directed to <u>waitingtimespolicy@gov.scot</u>

Public Health Scotland (PHS) have responsibility for the collection, quality assurance, analysis and reporting of national data on waiting times collected through the national waiting times warehouse.

Any enquires regarding national recording and data collection should be directed to <u>phs.</u> <u>waittimessubmissions@phs.scot</u>.





© Crown copyright 2023

## OGL

This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except where otherwise stated. To view this licence, visit **nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3** or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or email: **psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk** 

Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned.

This publication is available at www.gov.scot

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at

The Scottish Government St Andrew's House Edinburgh EH1 3DG

ISBN: 978-1-83521-597-5

Published by The Scottish Government, December 2023

Produced for The Scottish Government by APS Group Scotland, 21 Tennant Street, Edinburgh EH6 5NA PPDAS1383514 (12/23)

www.gov.scot